PartJel"rship
FOR CHILDREN

OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY

| P 1 to help children succeeg
Tb‘e Supp

PFC is a 501{c)(3) nonprofit organization supported by public and private funds through Smart Start, NC Pre-K, tax-deductible denations, and grants.

Board Development Committee
Meeting Agenda

Partnership for Children Resource Center
August 22, 2017 — 1:00pm-2:30pm

| Chair's Comments — Jim Grafstrom, Chair
A. Welcome
B. Volunteer Form

IL Approval of Minutes — June 21, 2017*

III. New Business
A. Board Member Nominee, Dr. Meredith Gronski*
B. Goals for the Year*

1v. Upcoming Meetings & Events
A. Executive Committee — September 28, 2017
B. PFC Annual Celebration — October 5, 2017
C. Board Development Committee Meeting — November 28, 2017
D. Board/NC Pre-K Planning Committee Meeting — November 30, 2017

V. Adjournment
* Needs Action 2 Information Only /Possible Conflict of Interest (Recusals)
¢ Electronic Copy (Hard copies are available upon request)

351 Wagoner Dr. * Suite 200 * Fayetteville, NC + 28303
{(910) 867-9700  Fax (910) 8§67-7772



Pt

FOR CHILDREN

OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY

Partnership for Children of Cumberland County, Inc.
Board Development Committee Meeting Minutes

June 21,2017, 3:07 pm-4:32 pm

S

MEMBERS ABSENT: Robert Hines and Wendy Lowery

MEMBERS PRESENT: Hank Dehnam, Van Gunter, Dr. Larry Keen, Chris Rey and Lorna Ricotta

NON-VOTING ATTENDEES: Marie Clark, Belinda Gainey, Mary Sonnenberg and Scottie Seawell {via phone)

reached out to Alana Hix regarding the school superintendent’s position. Due to the NC
Pre-K mandated positions either the interim superintendent will need to serve on the
NC Pre-K Planning Committee or designate Alana to continue serving as the designee.

During the meeting Chris Rey reached out to Dr. Tamara Brothers at FSU and she agreed
to serve on the board. A nomination form was sent to her for completion. Dr. Brothers
will serve as a representative of the Higher Education Institution.

Hank Debnam will reach out to the interim director of the Health Department, Rod
Jenkins, to serve on the board due to Buck Wilson’s announcement of resigning as the
Health Department Director.

Toric Discussion, CONCLUSION, RECOMMENDATION, EVALUATION AcTion ROLLOW-LP
PERSON
I.  €Chair's Comments — Chris Rey, Chair The scheduled meeting of the Board Development Committee was held at the Partnership for | Call to None
A, Welcome Children Family Resource Center at 351 Wagoner Drive, Fayetteville, NC, on Wednesday, June | Order
B. Volunteer Form 21, 2017 pursuant to prior written notice to each committee member. Chris Rey determined
that quorum was present and called the meeting to order at 3:07 pm. Belinda Gainey was
Secretary for the meeting and recorded the minutes.
A. Chris Rey thanked everyone for attending the Board Development Committee
meeting.
B. Committee members who reviewed the committee packet prior to the meeting
were asked to complete a volunteer form.
II.  Minutes—May 8, 2017* The minutes from May 8, 2017, were previously distributed to committee members for their | Motion None
review. Van Gunter motioned to accept the minutes. Hank Debnam seconded the motion. | Carried
Hearing no further discussion the Chair put the motion to a vote. The vote was unanimous
with no abstentions. Motion carried.
Ill.  Qld Business A.l. Upon Wendy Lowery's resignation from the PFC Board of Directors, Chris Rey will refer | None None
A, FY17/18 to the board listing and nominate a board secretary.
1. Board Secretary?
2. Board Nominations* A.2. Dr. Larry Keen nominated Robin Deaver and Van Gunter nominated Michael K. Hardin
i.  Robin Deaver and Karen McDonald to serve on the PFC Board of Directors beginning July 1, 2017. Each
ii. Michael K. Hardin of their nomination forms were included in the packet. Michael K. Hardin is currently
iii. Karen McDanald (not on the original agenda, added serving on the PED Committee.
after copies made) Dr. Larry Keen moved to accept the nominations of Robin Deaver, Michael K. Hardin and | Motion None
3. Board Transition Waorksheet Karen McDonald to the Board of Directors beginning July 1, 2017 as presented. Hank | Carried
4.  Committee Member Listing® Debnam seconded the motion. Hearing no further discussion, the Chair put the motion
5. Bylaws* to a vote. All votes were unanimous. There were no abstentions. The motion carried.
A.3. The committee reviewed the revised Board Transition Worksheet. Mary Sonnenberg has | None None

* Needs Action, A FY!

Page1of 3




g Partnership for Children of Cumberland County, Inc.

IR ‘  Coun Smart

Partnershi Board Development Committee Meeting Minutes
FOR CHILDREN June 21, 2017, 3:07 pm—-4:32 pm

OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY

MEMBERS PRESENT: Hank Dehnam, Van Gunter, Dr. Larry Keen, Chris Rey and Lorna Ricotta
MEMBERS ABSENT: Robert Hines and Wendy Lowery
NON-VOTING ATTENDEES: Marie Clark, Belinda Gainey, Mary Sonnenberg and Scottie Seawell {via phone)

FoLLow-up

TorIC Discussion, CoNCLUSION, RECOMMENDATION, EVALUATION AcTion —

Tawnya Rayman was moved to the Inter-Agency Coordinating Council or Parent of a
Child with a Disability position.

Scottie Seawell suggested asking members who are leaving the board to see if they
would like to serve another 1 year term. Chris will reach out to Sharon Movyer and ask if
she will continue on the board. If Sharan agrees, she will also be asked to serve as PFC
Board Secretary. Lorna Ricotta declined to serve for another year. Scottie suggested
reaching out to Sarah Pitts for the Secretary position.

Subsequentto Dr. Tamara Brothers completing the board nomination form, Van Gunter | Motion None
moved to accept the nomination of Dr. Tamara Brothers to the PFC Board. Lorna Ricotta | Carried
seconded the motion. Hank Debnam had some unreadiness.

After further discussion, since the nomination form has yet to be received, the | Motion None
committee moved to defer the nomination until the board meeting on June 29, 2017. | Withdrawn
WVan Gunter moved to withdraw the motion. Dr. Larry Keen seconded the motion.

The following will be listed on the Board Transition Worksheet:

Government: Higher Education Institution — Dr. Tamara Brothers and Municipal
Government — Karen McDonald; Business/Community: Military Community Rep —
Sandee Gronowski.

A4, The committee listing for FY 17/18 was provided for review by the committee. Van | None None
Gunter agreed to remain on the Board Development Committee. Hank Debnam agreed
to ascend to the HR Committee Chair if Buck Wilson does not remain on the PFC board.
Hank will also continue to serve as Facility and Tenant Committee Chair. Robin Deaver
will be appointed to the Finance Committee; Karen McDanald will be asked to serve on
Board Development and Human Resource Committee; Dr. Tamara Brothers will be asked
to serve on the Human Resources Committee; Michael Hardin currently serves on the
PED Committee and Lorna Ricotta will continue to serve on the PED Committee. Dr.
Brothers will also be a great candidate for the PED Committee.

B.  The committee reviewed the Bylaws and provided updates. Changes/additions include:
Article |l, Section 2. The board composition will be changed to the new board structure;
Section 3. a change was made to remove the term limit suspension; Section 4. will be
removed and a section will be added in Article V to include the NC Pre-K Committee —
designee information will be listed in this section; an asterisk will be placed by the
positions in Article Il, Section 2 to indicate mandated NC Pre-K Committee positions;
Article IV, Section 1. changed to read “prior to July 1”; Article V, Section 2 — removed
Public Awareness and Development Committee and added Public Engagement and

* Needs Action; A FY! Page 2 of 3



g Partnership for Children of Cumberland County, Inc.
IR ‘  Coun Smart
Partnershi Board Development Committee Meeting Minutes
FOR CHILDREN June 21, 2017, 3:07 pm—-4:32 pm

OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY

MEMBERS PRESENT: Hank Dehnam, Van Gunter, Dr. Larry Keen, Chris Rey and Lorna Ricotta
MEMBERS ABSENT: Robert Hines and Wendy Lowery
NON-VOTING ATTENDEES: Marie Clark, Belinda Gainey, Mary Sonnenberg and Scottie Seawell {via phone)

TorIC Discussion, CoNCLUSION, RECOMMENDATION, EVALUATION AcTion RoLLow-up
PERSON
Development Committee and NC Pre-K Committee; Section 3 — Executive Committee
meets bi-monthly not monthly; Section 5 CFO changed to Chief Operating Officer;
Section & —removed “members are to serve a two year term”; Section 10 —removed “a
minimum of”; Investment Committee will be added to Article V and Article VIII, Section
4 first sentence will read “The Board authorizes the board chair and the Corporation
President....” and Article lll, Section 2 removed May 31 and added June 30.
Dr. Larry Keen moved to accept the bylaw changes as presented. Hank Debnam seconded the | Motion None
motion. Hearing no further discussion, the Chair put the motion to a vote. All votes were | Carried
unanimous. There were no abstentions. The motion carried.
V. Upcoming Meetings & Events A. The next Board of Directors meeting will be held June 29, 2017 at 12:00pm. None None
A, Board/NC Pre-K Planning Committee Meeting — 6/29/17 (12:00-
2:00) None None
V. Adjournment As there was no further business, the Chair adjourned the meeting at 4:32 pm. Meeting None
Adjourned
Belinda Gainey, Secretary Date
Approval: Based on Committee consensus, the minutes of the above stated meeting are hereby
approved as presented and/or corrected.
Committee Chair/Vice Chair Date

* Needs Action; A FY! Page 3 of 3




FOR CHiLDR]lillNlp

OF CUMBERLAND COUNTY

PFC s @ SOI{CH3) nonprofit organization supported By pUiic and prvate furkds through Sesart Start ~
North Carolina’s Farfy Childhood Initialive, tax-deduchide donabions, and grants.

Nomination Form
Board of Directors Membership

Contact Information
~Nominee Name: teredith Gronski, OTD, OTR/L, CLA -
Company Name:
“Work Addre _

‘Home Address:

WorkPhone: |+ TN 7T CellPhone:
HomePhone:  __ nja_ Home Emall
“Work Email: ' ~:Linkedin Account

nghly skilled therapy professmnal and academlc leader wrth a backgl ound in servmg and researchmg factors
Related to children, youth, and families. i

i _What work experlence or: expertlse _weuld thlS nommee brmg? (attach resume 1f he__p_ﬁ_l )

Expertise in children and families with dlsabihty, prematurity, exposure to toxic stress, hearing loss, sensory

challenges, early intervention, school part1c1pat10n and success/IDEA and [EPs; program development and evaluation

Currently serve as Secretary on executive board of NC OT Association; FTCC Family Collaborative Team Member

Inclusion coordinator for rehgious education program (StL, MO, 2015- 16), Baptism catechist (StL 2008-2014)

'llang to serve on the Partnershlp board :

'No ir .9!?1,9,1??3?9.§¥§§X9.l!¥_9§.11§9§§1.,£§@§951.$._f.92.b§,1}?g v

[ personally believe that children can only thrive and be successful if they have supportive systems around them: family

systems, educational systems, and community systems. I feel your organization strives to build this foundation.

Authorization

" The undersagned certgfj,f that the above mfor matron rs tnte ana’ accm ate and pel mrsszon is gwen to use'the above
-_'mformatmn for nomination purposes. e g Ll e

Meredith Gronski, 0TD, OTR/L, CLA
Printed Name of Nominee

e of Nominee

Printed Name of Board Member Signature of Board Member Date

351 Wagoner Dr., Suite 200, Fayetteville, NC 28303 Phone: (910) 867-9700 Fax: (910) 867-7772 Web: www.ccpfc.org
~Your First Stop for Services for Young Children~




P ers ship

OF CUMBERLA:\D COUNTY

CV attached.

In addition to my academic role, [ support CCS by performing Early Childhood evaluations.

Thank you for considering my application. I look forward to the opportunity to engage with your organization!




Meredith P. Gronski, OTD, OTR/L, CLA

EDUCATION

2002 - 2005 Washington University in St. Louis, St Louis, MO
OTD (Concentration: Pediatrics)

1999 - 2003 Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO
B.A. (Psychology major)

LICENSES

2016 - Present Licensed Occupational Therapist #1029
North Carolina

2006 - 2016 Licensed Occupational Therapist #2006001215
Missouri

CERTIFICATIONS

2017 Credentialed Leader in Academia (AOTA)

20086 National Board Certification of Occupational Therapists (NBCOT)
OTR

ACADEMIC APPOINTMENTS
2016 - Present Methodist University, Fayetteville, NC
Program Director & Chair, Assistant Professor, OTD Program

2014 - 2016 Washington University, St. Louis, MO
Assistant Professor of Occupational Therapy and Otolaryngology

2013 - 2014 Washington University, St. Louis, MO
Instructor of Occupational Therapy and Otolaryngology

2009 — 2013 Washington University, St. Louis, MO
Lecturer, Program in Occupational Therapy (MSOT & OTD)



CLINICAL PRACTICE

2016 - Present Cumberland County School District
Fayetteville, NC
. Early childhood eligibility evaluation

2013 - 2016 Washington University Program in OT Community Practice Group
St Louis, MO
. Evaluation and intervention of children ages 3-16 years
. Program development and evaluation, established standards of care,
personnel management, EMR documentation transition task force

2007- 2013 Central Institute for the Deaf
St. Louis, MO
. School-based evaluation and intervention of children ages 2-12
years
. Interdisciplinary scholarly inquiry and program development
. Supervision of clinical fieldwork students
2007- 2007 Therapy Relief, Inc
Chesterfield, MO
. Early Intervention evaluation and intervention of children ages birth-
3 years
. Interdisciplinary family/team meetings
2006 - 2007 St. Louis Public Schools
St Louis, MO
. School-based evaluation and intervention of children ages 3-16
years
. Interdisciplinary team meetings
. Supervision of Level | clinical fieldwork students

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

2016 - Present MNorth Carolina Occupational Therapy Association

2004 - Present American Occupational Therapy Association

2005 - 2016 Missouri Occupational Therapy Association

2011 - 2014 Alexander Graham Bell Association for Deaf and Hard of Hearing
SERVICE TO THE UNIVERSITY

2017 - Present Methodist University, Fayetteville, NC

Graduate Studies Council

2017 Methodist University, Fayetteville, NC
Interfaith Development Focus Group

2016 - Present Methodist University- School of Health Sciences, Fayetteville, NC
Coordinator, Interprofessional Education Task Force



2015 - 2016

2013 - 2015

2013 - 2015

2013 - 2016

2010 - 2013

2010 - 2011

2009 - 2010

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
Community Development Committee

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
Clinical Practice ACOTE Accreditation Committee

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
OTD Curriculum ACOTE Accreditation Committee

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
Curriculum Committee

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
Admissions Committee

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
Academic Fieldwork Committee

Washington University- Program in OT, St. Louis, MO
Student Activities Coordinator

SERVICE TO THE PROFESSION

2017 — Present

October, 2016

2016 - Present

2016 - 2017

2014 - Present

2014- Present

2014 - 2016

2013 - 2015

Journal of Occupational Therapy Education
Reviewer

Elsevier
Invited Reviewer; Occupational Therapy for Children, 8" edition

North Carolina Occupational Therapy Association
Secretary and Interim Social Media Co-Chair
Executive Board Member

ACTA Academic Leadership Institute
Member, Inaugural Cohort

AOTA Commission on Practice
Appointed Member

AOTA Annual Conference Committee
Invited Proposal Reviewer

International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology
Reviewer

Ear & Hearing
Reviewer



SERVICE TO THE COMMUNITY

2016 — Present

2013 - 2016

2013 - 2014

2008 - 2014

2011 - 2012

2004 - 2007
RESEARCH SUPPORT
2011-2013
COURSES TAUGHT
2016

2013 - 2016

2013 - 2016

2014 - 2016

2013 - 2016

2010 - 2016

2010 - 2016

2010 - 2016

2010 - 2013

2010 - 2013

FTCC- Family Collaborative Team
Member/Social Media Coordinator

Assumption Parish, O'Fallon, MO
Inclusion Coordinator, Religious Education

Assumption Parish, O'Fallon, MO
Vacation Bible School Volunteer

Assumption Parish, O'Fallon, MO
Baptism Preparation Catechist

Central Institute for the Deaf
Chair, Parent Organization

Assumption Parish- O'Fallon, MO
Usher/Greeter

Principal Investigator, WUSM Program in OT- Research Development
Fund “Participation & Vestibular Functioning in Children with Hearing
Loss”, $20,000 (Dr. Timothy Hullar, MD, Co-Investigator)

MU Journey: Freshman Year Seminar; Methodist University; Instructor

Interventions to Support Daily Functioning for Individuals with
Sensory and Motor Impairments; Co-Coursemaster (developed
course)

Interventions to Support Recovery and Participation of Individuals
with Psychosocial Challenges; Co-Coursemaster (developed course)

OT Doctoral Seminar | and Il; Co-Coursemaster
OT Case-based Learning | and II; Small Group Instructor

Applied Clinical Research (MSOT)- Pediatrics

Applied Clinical Practice (MSCOT)- Pediatrics

Directed Research Practice (OTD)- Pediatrics

Intervention Models in Occupational Therapy Practice: Applied Skills for
Daily Living |; Module Coordinator

Innovative Practice Models: Home/Mork/School/Community: Applied Skills
for Daily Living |I; Module Coordinator

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

March, 2017

“Using AOTA’s Official Documents for Advancing Knowledge and
Professional Advocacy”
Short Course- AOTA Annual Conference, Philadelphia, PA



February, 2017

Nov, 2016

April, 2016

April, 2016

April, 2016

April, 2016

Dec, 2014

Sept, 2014

April, 2014

April, 2014

Nov, 2013

Sept, 2013

April, 2013

“A Contemporary Approach to Pediatric Self-Regulation: Building an
Evaluation Plan Beyond Sensory Processing’
Short Course- NCOTA Spring Conference, Concord, NC

“Empowering Children with Food Allergies’
Research Poster- North Carolina OT Association (NCOTA) Annual Fall
Conference, Greensboro, NC

“Childhood Occupational Development”
Keynote Address- MOTA Student Seminar; St. Louis, MO

“] Can't Hear You: Considerations When Working with Individuals with
Hearing Loss”
Research Poster- AOT A Annual Conference, Chicago, IL

“Empowering Children with Food Allergies: An Innovative Role for OT”
Research Poster- AOT A Annual Conference, Chicago, IL

Using AOTA's Official Documents for Professional Advocacy
Short Course- AOTA Annual Conference, Chicago, IL

“Participation Patterns of Children with and without Cochlear
Implants”

Research Poster- American Cochlear Implant Alliance
Symposium

“Child Welfare, Education and Occupational Therapy: Community
Health Promotion Roles”

Concurrent Session- Association for Treatment and Training in
the Attachment of Children Annual Conference, Orlando, FL

“Participation in Religious Education: A New Role for OT with Children
& Youth”
Research Poster- AOTA Annual Conference, Baltimore, MD

“Participation Patterns of Children with and without Hearing Loss”
Research Poster- AOTA Annual Conference, Baltimore, MD

“Childhood Toxic Stress: A Community Role for OT”
Short Course; Missouri Occupational Therapy Association (MOTA)
Annual Conference; St. Louis, MO

“The Role for Occupational Therapy with Children who are Deaf or Hard
of Hearing: Addressing the Whole Child”

Invited Lectureship; MO Academy of Audiology: Scope 2013, St. Louis,
MO

“Executive Function Skills of Children who are Deaf and Hard of
Hearing using Spoken Language”
Research Poster- AOTA Annual Conference, San Diego, CA



PEER- REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS
Stevens, M, Barbour, D, Gronski M, Hullar, T (2016). The auditory contributions to balance.

Journal of Vestibular Research, 26:5-6, 433-438. DOI:10.3233/VES-160599

Hullar T, Stevens M, Gronski M, Barbour D, Uchanski R (2014). The effect of audition on

balance. Journal of Vestibular Research, 24:2-3, 164,

Gronski, MP (2013). Balance and Motor Deficits and the Role of Occupational Therapy in Children
Who are Deaf and Hard of Hearing: A Critical Appraisal of the Topic. Journal of Occupational
Therapy in Schools and Early Intervention. DOI:10.1080/19411243.2013.860767

Gronski, MP, Johnson, K E, Kloeckner, J, Russell-Thomas, D, Taff, S D, Walker, K A, Berg, C.
{2013). Childhood toxic stress: A community rcle in health promotion for occcupational therapists.
American Journal of Occupational Therapy. DOI:10.5014/ajot. 2013.008755

Gronski, MP, Neimann, A, & Berg, C. (2012). Participation Patterns of urban preschoolers
attending Head Start. Occupational Therapy Journal of Research. DOI:
10.3928/15394492-20121026-01

Finger, S, & Hustwit, MP. (2003) Five Early Accounts of Phantom Limb in Context: Pare, Descartes,
Lemos, Bell, and Mitchell in Neurosurgery, 52 (3), pp. 675-686.

INVITED PUBLICATIONS

Perlmutter, MS & Gronski, MP. (2017). Identifying Person Factors that Impact Occupational
Performance Assessment. In M. Law, C. Baum & W. Dunn (Eds.), Measuring occupational
performance: Supporting best practice in occupational therapy. Slack Inc.

Gronski, M. P. & Bopp, C. (2016). OT Practice Perks: Effective and efficient documentation with
children, youth, and families. OT Practice, 21 (9).

Gronski, M. P. & Henry, T. (2018). A Contemporary Occupational Performance Approach to Pediatric
Self- Regulation, Part |: Theoretical Framework and Evaluation Considerations; AOTA Press; Online
CEU Course

Gronski, M. P. & Henry, T. (2016). A Contemporary Occupational Performance Approach to Pediatric
Self- Regulation, Part II: Self- Regulation Intervention Framework and Strategies; AOTA Press; Online
CEU Course

Gronski, M. P. (2012). Beyond Communication: Team efforts to serve children who are deaf and hard
of hearing. OT Practice, 17 (17).

Awards & Honors
2017 AOTA Service Commendation Award



Childhood Toxic Stress: A Community Role in Health
Promotion for Occupational Therapists

MeSH TERMS

» child health services
» child welfare
occupational therapy
primary prevention

» professional role

*

Meredith P. Gronski, Katherine E. Bogan, Jeanne Kloeckner,
Duana Russell-Thomas, Steven D. Taff, Kimberly A. Walker,
Christine Berg

Peaple who experience the toxic stress of recurrent traumatic events in childhood have a higher risk for mental
and physical health problems throughout life. Occupational therapy practitioners have a remarkable oppor-
tunity to be involved in addressing this significant public health problem. As health care practitioners already
situated in the community, we have a responsibility to lead and assist in establishing and implementing
ocoupation-based programs and to nurture the links between the child welfare system and existing inter-
vention systems. In this article, we review the current reszarch on toxic stress and recommendations made by
other health care disciplines and offer strategies for occupational therapy practitioners o begin a dialogue an

« stress disorders, traumatic this critical, emerging issue.

Gronski, M. P., Bogan, K E., Klosckner, J., Russall-Thomas, D, Taff, S. D., Walker K A., & Barg, C. (2013). The lssug Is—
Childhood toxic strass: A community role in hezlth promotion for occupational therapists, American Jourmal of
Oceupational Therapy, 67, 2148-2153. hitp://dx. doi.org/10.5014/ajol 2013 008755

Meredith P. Gronski, OTD, OTR/L, is Instructor,
Washington Univarsity in St Louis School of Medicine,
Program in Occupational Therapy, 4444 Forast Park
Avenue, Campus Box 8505, St Louis, MO 63110;
gronskim@wust| edu

arly life experiences profoundly in-

fluence the capacity of children to de-
velop the range of competencies necessary
to transition to adulthood and become
contributing members of society (Felieti
et al., 1998; National Scientific Council
on the Developing Child [NSCD(],
2012}. Childhood trauma, including being
threatened with, witnessing, or experiencing

Katherine E. Bogan, OTD, OTR/L, is Staff Clinician;
Jeanne Kloeckner, OTD, OTR/L, is Clinical
Specialist: Duana Russell-Thomas, MSOT, OTR/L,
is Comimunity Practice Manager; Steven D. Taff, PhD,
OTR/L, is Associale Director of Professional Programs;
Kimberly A. Walker, OTD, OTR/L, is Research
Coordinator; and Christine Berg, PhD, OTR/L, is
Assistant Professor, Washington University in St. Louis
Schaol of Medizine, Program in Occupational Tharapy,
St Louis, MO,

physical, emotional, or sexual abuse, ex-
ploitation, violence, or extreme poverty, has
become a major public health issue. Re-
search has found that people who experience
recurrent traumatic events in childhood,
called zoxic stress syndrome, have a higher risk
for mental and physical health problems
throughout life. Additionally, evidence has
indicated that repeated exposure to trauma
is not uncommon; most children who expe-
rience trauma are exposed to multiple events
rather than a single traumatic incident (Felitd
et al., 1998).

Despite its potential to be significantly
reduced by appropriate prevention and in-
tervention efforts, childhood trauma occurs
at disturbingly high rates, threatening the

el48

Downloaded From: htip:/fajot.acta.org/ on 08/02/2017 Terms of Use: http://AOTA.org/terms

future economic and sodial viability of the
United States {Copeland, Keeler, Angold, &
Caostello, 2007; Flaherty & Sditling, 2010).
The term #o:xic stress denotes the impact of
early exposure to pronounced and sustained
stress on a dﬂVﬂ[Opiﬂg nervous System Elnd
the lifelong sequelae for physical, emotional,
and mental health and economic potental
(Felitti et al., 1998; NSCDC, 2012; Shonkoff,
2012).

Although current research comes pri-
marily from medicine, psychology, neuro-
sclence, and economics, occupational therapy
practitioners are in an ideal position to pro-
vide important contributions to the evidence
through our sdentific knowledge, our ex-
pertise in focusing on the occupations of
children and families, and our focus on
environmental context, particularly at the
community level (Baum, 2011). Our pro-
fession has a remarkable opportunity to
address this profound public health prob-
lem. Occupational therapy practitioners
and researchers can build evidence through
the study of program efficacy, particularlyin
the areas of family-focused interventions

November/December 2013, Volume 67, Number 6



that promote mental and emotional health.
We are equally suited to investigating the
ways toxic stress restricts occupational per-
formance and the impact of sociocultural
environments on everyday activitdes and
quality of life. In this article we review the
current research on toxic stress and recom-
mendations made by various disciplines
and offer strategies for occupational ther-
apy practitioners to begin a dialogue on this

critical current issue.

Developmental Impact of
Toxic Stress

The NSCDC (2005} proposed a conceptu-
ally guided taxonomy based on three catego-
ries of stress experience: positive, tolerable, and
toxic stress. Pasitive stress ocours during typical
childhood expetiences, such as going to day
care for the first time or spending the night
without a parent. Experiences that create
positive stress, as the term ijnplies, are im-
portant for optimal child development. 7o/~
erable strews refers to stress that occurs with
traumaticevents such as a serious illness, loss of
aloved one, car accident, or tornado, flood, or
fire af‘fecting the home, but it is mitigated by
the support of a loving caregiver who helps the
child cope with the stress appropriately. Toxic
strars occurs through chronic or cumulative
traumas that the child experiences without the
available support of a loving caregiver (e.g.,
child abuse, maternal depression, caregiver
substance abuse; NSCDC, 2005).

Although stress responses are vitally
important for survival, constant activation
of these responses has been shown to cause
long—term physio[ogical, cognitive, and
psychological damage (NSCDC, 2012;
Shonkoff, 2012). Because of the height-
ened plasticity of the prenata[, infant, and
catly childhood brain, scientists believe
that it is during this ime that the brain is
most sensitive to chemicals, such as stress
hormones, that can alter brain structure
and chemistry (Bruce, Fisher, Pears, &
Levine, 2009}, Such alterations may [ead
to deficits in performance, including im-
paired learning, memory, execudve function,
and mood control and increased anxiety
(NSCDC, 2005). Adversity experienced
during sensitive periods of brain development,
in which the brain is most malleable, can result
in changes to the operating system that de-

The Amervican Journal of Occupational Therapy

termines how the neural network responds
to stress (NSCDC, 2012). Early experiences
are also cridcal to the development of a
healthy immune system through appropri-
ately regulared stress responses.

The impact of chronic and sustained
stress during childhood is not limited to that
developmental period, however. Chronic
overuse of the body’s stress response system
is correlated with a number of prevalent
adult conditions, induding cardiovascular
disease, hypertension, diabetes, liver cancer,
asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary dis-
ease, autoimmune disease, and depression
(Shonkoff & Garner, 2012}. Thus, toxic
stress exposure can influence the occupational
competence of individuals and populations
for a lifetime {Anda et al., 2006; Shonkoff &
Garner, 2012). Those particularly ac risk
for toxic stress include the children of young,
undereducated, and single parents. These
parents and, subsequenty, their children
often experience challenges related to pov-
erty, such as residendal instability, limited
education, low income and earning poten-
tal, food scarcity, and limited access to
health care (Felitd et al., 1998; Sameroff,
Seifer, Barocas, Zax, & Greenspan, 1987
Shonkoff, 2012).

Several protective factors against toxic
stress have been identified. These indicators
of strong social capital indude the presence
of a caring and supportive adult, the avail-
abi[ity of extrafamilial SUppOTt, access to
quality health care and education, regular
church attendance, and cargeted social
welfare services (Runyan et al., 1998},

From an economic perspective, it is
clear that toxic stress and its consequences
have a staggering cost to society. Children
who display learning or behavioral prob-
lems are at higher risk for school failure,
incarceration, and economic dependency
later in life (Agency for Healthcare Re-
search and Quality, 2008). Moreover, the
physical and mental health consequences
of toxic stress create a tremendous burden
on the country’s medical resources. Al-
though evidence has shown that attempts
to “remediate” an older child are much less
effective than prevention efforts and early
intervention (Heckman, 2007), it is a
challenging and complex task to convince
policymakers to spend current funds with
the promise of a return on investment [ater.

Downloaded From: htip:/fajot.acta.org/ on 08/02/2017 Terms of Use: http://AOTA.org/terms

Taking the lead, the Center on the De-

veloping Child ac Harvard University

(2010), cidng the urgency of the situadion,

has compiled a number of policy recom-

mendations aimed specifically at early child-

hood interventon, including

¢ Improve access to basic health care for
pregnant women and children

s Provide intensive family support to
at-risk families through evidence-based
home visiting programs

¢ Increase at-risk children’s access to very
high-quality eatly education centers

o Address carly education centers that
fail to meet minimal health and safety
standards.

These recommendations have impor-
tant direct implications for occupational
therapy practice. The focus of occupational
therapy practitioners is on the health and
well-being of individual clients and their
classrooms, schools, homes, and neighbor-
hoods. Practitioners must also focus their
attention on the occupational wellness of
families and at-risk populations, considering
toxic stress from a societal, social po[icy, or
population perspective.

New Role for Occupational
Therapy: Community, Capacity,
Prevention

Occupational therapy practitionets are poised
to offer suppart in building the capacites of
the identified protective factors. Practitioners
work with families in different settings, are
valued as early intervention team members,
and are ideally positioned to be part of the
toxic stress prevendon effore. As with any
emerging role in our profession, we need to
establish a strong, viable, and visible presence
with supporting evidence affirming chis
emerging role (Grady, 1995; Thibeault 8
Hébert, 1997},

The American Occupational Therapy
Association (AOTA) supports the pro-
fession’s role in health promotion, man-
dating practitioners “to promote healthy
life styles; to emphasize occupation as an
essential eclement of health promotion
strategies; and to provide interventions, not
only with individuals but also with pop-
ulations” (AQTA, 2008b, p. 696). We
are able to intervene at multiple levels: di-

rectly with the child by bui[ding a child’s

el49



capacity; with families by identifying and
intervening with those at risk for toxic
stress; with comimunity agencies by part-
nering to support families, by collabora-
tively expanding the capacity of programs
to serve unmet needs, and by promoting
new program development to meet pop-
ulation needs; and on the macro level by
advocating for policy changes. AOTA’s
Centennial Vision includes meeting the
occupational needs of society (AOTA, 2007}
Embracing our role in health promation
demands that we take a broader view of
health to expand the boundaries of occu-
pational therapy practice through building
capacity in communides. Qur role is to
create supportive environments and address
the undetlying determinants of health such
as access to healthy foods, safe shelter and
neighborhoods, quality education, and so-
cial support resources such as respite care
(Trentham, Cockburn, & Shin 2007).

Health promotion requires a shift in
how we approach the needs of children in the
management of toxic stress. First and fore-
most, we must be cognizant of the role
that a stable, responsive re[ationship plays in
mitigating the effects of toxic stress. As we
work to support families at risk, we must
not inadvertently undermine the nuclear
relationship. We may encounter family
struggles and priorides that challenge our role
because the particular situation causing toxic
stress may ofiginate outside of the individual
child’s referral or agency parameters.

Implementing Change

Current early intervention approaches are
based on Bronfenbrenner’s {1977} eco-
logical theory, which asserts that the needs
of the family embedded in a community
should be assessed along with the needs
of the child because the two are inseparable.
It is widely accepted that family-centered
interventions are integral to effective early
intervention therapy {(Brotherson et al.,
2010; Fleming, Sawyer, & Campbell,
2011; Mahnke, 2003). Eatly intervention
specialists are providers of skilled therapy
to “promote child development and foster
the capacity of the family to advocate for
their child while enhancing the family’s
occupational role in caregiving capacity”

(AOTA, 2010, p. 1).

el50

Despite the fact that a poor home
environment and dysfunctional family
interactions are known sources of stress in
ear[y childhood, occupational therapists
do not traditionally or routdnely provide
direct family intervention to ameliorate
these family stresses (Brotherson et al.,
2010; Fitzgerald, Ratdiffe, & Blythe, 2012).
Although family work is recommended in
government guidelines and many practice
models are available to support practitioners,
liele evidence is available to guide the im-
plementadion and documentation of a fam-
ily focus in occupational therapy practice
(Fitzgerald et al., 2012). Interventions that
strengthen the capacites of families and
communities can help mitigate and protect
children from the adverse effects of toxic
stress and are likely to promote healthy
brain development and enhanced well-
being (Runyan et al, 1998; Shonkoll &
Garner, 2012). The focus needs to begin
with the family and then expand to include
the broader family community support
system, beyond early childhood program
staff, to neighborhood resources such as
police and fire stations, libraries, grocery
stores, well child medical care, and places of
work and worship, to name a few. These
supportive systems will assist in strength-
ening the foundatdons of child health
(Shonkoff & Garner, 2012).

The majority of services currendy pro-
vided to children by occupational therapy
practitioners are characterized as remediation
or modification (AOTA, 2008a}. A health
promotion and prevention ethos is not cur-
rently the primary intervention mode for
pediatric occupational therapy practitioners,
although it is addressed in the Occupational
Therapy Practice Framework: Domain and
Process (AOTA, 2008a). The evidence for
shifting toward prevention seems obvious,
particularly in the area of toxic stress. The
remediation paradigm inherently stipulates
waiting for children to struggle before
identifying the problem. Even then, the
policies and narrow definitions of disadilizy
limit eligibility to receive services to address
toxic stress sequelac. Moreover, occupa-
tional therapy services are couched in poli-
cles that focus on school readiness, language
and literacy development, and academic
achievement. Early intervention practice has
trended toward these same priorities. Social,

emotional, and overall mental health have
not been promoted as a priority for in-
tervention, even though cha[[enges in these
areas are the very ones that can overwhelm
a child’s ability to learn and perform age-
appropriate ocaipations when faced with ad-
verse and traumatic environments {Shonkoff,
2012).

Recommendations of the U.S. De-
partment of Health and Human Services
in association with the Centers for Disease
Control and Prevendon for addressing
toxic stress fall under individualized health
promotion and prevention models, which
include programming that incorporates
parent education, child education, teacher
and caregiver education, and home visi-
tation {Middlebrooks 8 Audage, 2008).
Viewing toxic stress as a public health
issue—in contrast to solely an educational
or individual disability issue—is a powerful
indicator that a focus on community-
based, multidiscip[inary prevention is the
ideal solution to replace occupational
therapy’s historic, more reactive stance of
remediation. Our profession’s challenge
is to bridge the gap between the theory
of providing family-centered, community-
based, preventive care for children and the
reality of day-to-day practice.

New Policy and Systems
Implications

Occupational therapists typically receive
a referral because a parent, teacher, or
physician has identified a developmental
delay or limitadon affecting a major life
activity. Because a child experiencing toxic
stress may not ShOW ObViOU,S delays or
prob[ems, hOWﬂVﬂr, W Ilf:ﬂd to create WHYS
to reach and intervene with at-risk children
and families to most effectively prevent
toxic stress from occurring and to put
positive strategies in place. This effort may
require innovative payment mechanisms
and new community partmerships support-
ing new occupational therapy roles (e.g., drug
and alcohol recovery programs for parents,
outreach programs to prevent incarceration
recidivism, domestic violence shelters, ob-
stetric care). Occupational therapy practi-
tioners, as well as other health care providers,
often have difliculty practcing within their
potential full scope because of the current

November/December 2013, Volume 67, Number 6

Downloaded From: htip:/fajot.acta.org/ on 08/02/2017 Terms of Use: http://AOTA.org/terms



payment system built on the “sick care”
as opposed to prevention model. The
ecobiodevelopmental (EBD) framework
is an effective, evidence-based approach
that can be used to further guide ocou-
pational therapy’s response to toxic stress

{(Shonkoff 8¢ Garner, 2012). An EBD ap-

proach to childhood adversity suggests the

following principles:

o FEarly experiences with significant stress
canundermine the development of adap-
tive capacities and coping skills.

¢ The roots of stressful lifestyles, malad-
aptive coping patterns, and weak social
networks are often reflected in behav-
ioral and physiological responses to sig-
nificant adversity.

¢ The prevention of long-term, adverse
consequences is best achieved by the
protection of stable, responsive rela-
tionships that help children develop a
sense of safety, thereby facilitating the
restoration of their stress response sys-
tems to baseline (NSCDC, 2012).

The application of the EBD frame-
work to toxic stress in the [iterature has led
not only to changes in the primary pedi-
attic medical care provided to individual
children, but also to policy statements and
key recommendations calling for sweeping
changes in the delivery model for pediatric
services, the ways pediatricians are edu-
cated, the reimbursement models for the
associated health care, and the social and
health policies that drive the root causes.
The same opportunity applies o occu-
pational therapy because the profession
defines a parallel role in toxic stress in-
tervention. Occupational therapy practi-
tioners must use evidence and work with
other health service providers, educators,
and policymakers as the details of the
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act
(2010; Pub. L. 111-148) are translated
into practice and payment.

The American Academy of Pediatrics,
Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of
Child and Family Health and Task Force
on Mental Health {2012} recommended
that pediatricians consider implementing
standardized measures that will help iden-
tify family- and community-level factors
that may put children at risk for toxicstress.
The screenings will be most effective if
collaborative referral relationships already

The Amervican Journal of Occupational Therapy

Table 1. Expanded Occupations for Families, With Program Examples

Qccupation

Program

Socially connect
with neighbors

Care for and increase
knowledge of health

Care for self and others

Manage mental health needs,

manage stress

Qbtain resources to fulfill
basic needs

Identify and participate
in desired activities

Get involved in community
organizations

Enhance community
integration

Meet basic daily needs

Meet instrumental needs

Qrganize collectively to build
on strengths and make
needs known

Build healthy community relationships for families

Establish after-school community work preparation
programs

Design community space for collective
imtergenerational gatherings

Advocate for workers’ health and safety
Provide health and wellness centers for immigrants
Build fitness into elementary school classrooms
Assist health care teams in being culturally

and socially responsive

Develop programs for parents, prospective parents,
child care workers, grandparents, foster parents,
and day care staff

Encourage spiritual and religious inclusion

Teach adolescents skills in managing daily health
Build a conflict resolution curriculum for youth

Promote mental health through advocacy and education

Develop bully management programs

Promote successful transitions from homelessness
Train volurteers for community service

Improve access to neighborhood grocery stores
Promote childproof homes with safe exit strategies

Empower neighborhood walking to promote
connectedness

Develop museum programs offering education
to underserved youth

Build character in youth through community service

Participate in agency programs for immigrant families

Promote fitness for obesity prevention and health
promotion

Establish library programs to disseminate resources
for families

Provide occupation-based mentoring programs

Develop intergenerational day care center programs

Establish long-term transitional homes or shelters
for homeless families

Provide workforce development

Develop transitional programs for youth emerging
into adulthood

Locate resources for those who are food insecure
Develop capacities in nutrition literacy

Design teen work skills programs
Engage in goal setting with imprisored youth
Enhance the road to college for at-risk youth

Enable access to mental health services for parents
recently incarcerated
Advocate for accessible public transportation

Work with local agencies and governments for effective

health promotion

Downloaded From: htip:/fajot.acta.org/ on 08/02/2017 Terms of Use: http://AOTA.org/terms

(Continued)

elsl



Table 1. Expanded Occupations for Families, With Program Examples (cont.)

Qccupation

Program

Participate in agency programs

Engage parents as education partners

Develop violence reduction programs
Provide community recreational programs
Participate in senior center programs

Learn new skills to problem
solve barriers

Provide life skills programs for teenage parents
Develop disaster relief programs

Provide community college programs

Note. From Expanded Occupations for Families, With Program Exampfes, by P. 5. Neufeld & C. Berg, 2013.
Unpublished manuscript, Washington University in St. Louis. Used with permission.

exist with local services, such as occupa-
tional therapy, that have demonstrated
evidence of effectiveness in dealing with
toxic stress. As pediatricians become more
systematic in addressing this need, occu-
pational therapy practitioners need to be
ready to intervene as part of the community
team working to prevent toxic stress.
Ocaupational therapists need to invest in
the development, testing, continuous im-
provement, and replication of models of
cross-disciplinary policy and occupation-
based program interventions. To receive
propet payment for the time used to screen
all children deemed at risk and to develop
evidence-based programs for those that
have been affected by toxic stress, we must
advocate at the state and national levels.
As we continue to discover the potendally
lifelong significant impact of toxic stress on
a child’s deve[oping system, we must be
willing to advocate for and seek systemic
changes in reimbursement strategies that
will allow us to provide services in a broad

array of programs.

Implications for Occupational
Therapy

Ameliorating toxic stress will require oc-
cupational therapy practitioners to embrace
an environmental systems perspective and
to look beyond individualized delivery of
services to collaborative community pre-
vention approaches with responsive multi-
disciplinary teams and additional community
partners for solutions to community toxic
stressors {e.g., unemployment, gun violence,
neighborhood safety, homelessness, substance
abuse, mental illness, domestic violence; Anda
et al., 2006}. As health care practtioners al-
ready sttnated in the community, occupadonal

els2

therapy practitionets play a critical role in
leading and helping establish, implement, and
nurture the links among the established child
welfare system, the educational system,
the medical system, and other existing in-
tervention systems. We envision occupa-
tional therapy playing a significant role
within communities to promote health for
all populadons through programs that are
not dependent on federal legisladon or eli-
gibility requirements for their pravision but
are supported through the principle of oc-
cupational justice {Townsend & Wilcock,
2004) and through tax support and grant
possibilities for the development and de-
livery of evidence-based, hea[th—promoting
parent education programs, youth skill de-
ve[opment, and neighborhood and residential
services (Anderson, Scrimshaw, Fullilove, &
Fielding, 2003; AOTA, 2008a; Poland,
Krupa, 8 McCall, 2009; Table 1).

As occupational therapy educartors,
we propose that entry-level curricula em-
phasize professional advocacy roles for our
work in health promotion and address the
practice of being a member of responsive
community teams protecting the welfare
of communities, youth, and families. Edu-
cators should continue to ask themselves,
“What capacities are required among occu-
pational therapists to promote health effec-
tively for populations in communities?” We
may encounter issues affecting families that
we might perceive as outside of our scope of
practice or capacity to treat. Effective re-
sponses to such issues will require new col-
laborative models of community practice in
partnership with community resources to
ensure that all family needs are being met.
Building the capacity of families by focusing
on family strengths is a hallmark of our
practice (AOTA, 2008b).

Conclusion

Occupational therapy professionals mighe
address building community strengths in
many ways. Addressing hospital recidivism
for children born prematurely, working to
prevent high school dropout, securing com-
munity pathways for fitness, and providing
occupation-focused mentoring programs for
young parents arc a few ways we can assist
in toxic stress reduction. The toxic stress
literature informs us that working in eardly
childhood education provides oppormnities
to influence a child’slife trajectory and callson
us to be mindful of this [ife course perspective
in the focus of our daily work. Practidoners
in eatly childhoad education argue that they
must work within the current reimbursement
system. We counter that now is the time to
gather data to support a broader professional
role to serve families, reduce toxic stress, im-
prove outcomes, and help broaden the scope
of future reimbursable practice. &

References

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
(2008). Touml expenses and percent distribu-
tion for selected conditions by type of sexvice:
United States, 2008 (Medical Expenditure
Panel Survey, Household Component
Data). Reurieved from http://meps.ahrq.
gov/data_stats/tables_compendia hh
interactive jsp?_SERVICE=MEPSSocket87_
PROGRAM=MEPSPGM.TC.SAS&
File=HCFY2008& Table=HCFY2008_
CNDXP_Cé&_Debug=

American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee
on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and
Family Health and Task Force on Mental
Health. (2012). Policy Statement—FEarly
childhood adversity, toxic stress, and the
role of the pediatrician: Translating devel-
opmental science into lifelong health. Pedt-
atrics, 129, e224-€231. hutp://dx.doi.org/
10. 1542/peds.201 1-2662

American Occupational Therapy Association.
(2007). AOTA’s Centennial Visionand ex-
ecutive summary. American Journal of Oc-
cupational Therapy, 61, 613-614. hup://
dx.doi.org/10.5014/ajot.61.6.613

American Occupational Therapy Association.
(2008a). Occupatonal therapy practice frame-
work: Domainand practice (2nd ed.). Awmerican
Jourmnal of Occupazional Therapy, 62, 625-683.
hitp:/idx.doi.org/10.5014/ajot. 62.6.625

American Occupational Therapy Association.
(2008hb). Occupational therapy services in

November/December 2013, Volume 67, Number 6

Downloaded From: htip:/fajot.acta.org/ on 08/02/2017 Terms of Use: http://AOTA.org/terms



the promodon of health and prevendon of
disease and disability. American Jowrnal of
Occupational Therapy, 62, 694-703. htip://
dx.doi.org/10.5014/ajot.62.6.694

American Occupational Therapy Association.
(2010). AOTA practice advisory on eccuparional
therapy in early intervention. Retieved from
www.aota.org/ Consurmers/ Professionals/
WhatlsOT/CY/Practice-Advisory-OT-ELaspx

Anda, R. F., Felitd, V. J., Bremner, J. D.,
Walker, J. D., Whidield, C. H., Perry,
B.D., ... Giles, W. H. (2006). The en-
during eflects of abuse and related adverse
experiences in childhood: A convergence of
evidence ffom neurobiclogy and epidemiol-
ogy. Eurgpean Archives of Pyychiatry and Clinical
Nensoscience, 256, 174-186. htip:f{dx.doiorg/
10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4

Anderson, L. M., Scrimshaw, S. C., Fullilove,
M. T, & Fielding, J. E; Task Force on
Community Preventive Services. (2003). The
Community Guidés model for linking the social
environment to health. American Journal
of Preventive Medicine, 24(Suppl.), 12-20.
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/50749-3797(02)
00632-9

Baum, C. M. (2011). Fulfilling the promise:
Supporting participation in daily life. Ar-
chives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilita-
tion, 92,169-175. http//dx.doi.org/10.
1016/j.apmr.2010.12.010

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experi-
mental ecology of human development.
American Psychologist, 32, 513-531. htp://
dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.32.7 513

Brotherson, M. J., Summers, J. A, Naig, L. A,
Kyzar, K., Friend, A., Epley, P, ... Turnbull,
A. P. (2010). Partnership patterns: Ad-
dressing emotional needs in early interven-
ton. Topics in Early Childhosd Special
Education, 30, 32-45. hup://dxdoi.org/
10.1177/0271121409360068

Bruce, J., Fisher, P. A, Pears, K. C., & Levine,
5. (2009). Morning cortisol levels in
preschool-aged foster children: Differen-
tial effects of maltreatment type. Develgp-
mental Psychebiology, 51, 14-23 http://dx.
dol.org/10.1002/dev.20333

Center on the Developing Child at Harvard Uni-
versity. (2010). The joundations of lifelong
healih ave built in early childhood. Retrieved
from www.developingchild.harvard.edu

Copeland, W. E., Keeler, G., Angold, A, & Costello,
E. J. (2007). Traumatic events and post-
traumatic stress in childhood. Aschives of
General Poychiatry, 64, 577-584. hup://
dx.doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.64.5.577

Feliwi, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D.,
Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards,

The Amervican Journal of Occupational Therapy

V., ...Marks,].S. (1998). Relationship of
childhood abuse and household dysfunction
to many of the leading causes of death in
adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences
(ACE) Scudy. American Journal of Preventive
Medicine, 14,245-258. hep://dx.doi.org/10.
1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8

Fitzgerald, M., Raccliffe, G., & Blythe, C.
(2012). Family work in occupational ther-
apy: A case study from a forensic service.
British Journal of Occupational Therapy,
75, 152-155. htep//dx.doi.org/10.4276/
030802212X13311219571864

Flaherty, E. G., & Stirling, ]., Jr.; American Acad-
emy of Pediawics, Committee on Child
Abuse and Neglect. (2010). Clinical Re-
port—The pediatrician’s role in child mal-
treatment preventdon. Pedianics, 126, 833-841.
hetpr/chx doi.org/10.1542/peds 2010-2087

Fleming, J. L., Sawyer, L. B., & Campbell, P. H.
(2011). Early intervention providers' per-
spectives about implementing participation-
based services. Topics in Early Childhood
Special Education, 30, 233244, hup:/idx.
dot.org/10.1177/0271121410371986

Grady, A. P. (1995). Building inclusive commu-
nity: A challenge for accupational therapy
(Eleanor Clatke Slagle Lecture). American
Jewrnal of Occupational Therapy, 49, 300-310.
http://dx.doi.org/10.5014/ajot49.4.300

Heclkman, J.J. (2007). The economics, technol-
ogy, and neuroscience of human capability
formation. Proceedings of the National
Academy of Sciences of the United States of
America, 104, 13250-13255. htep://dx.
dot.org/10.1073/pnas.0701362104

Mahnke, C. B. (2005, December 21). Pediat-
rics. [Review of the book Dedicated ro the
health of all childven: 75 years of caring,
1930-2005, by ]. . Baker & H. A. Pearson].
JAMA, 294, 3032-3033. hep://dx.dot.org/
10.1001/jama.294.23.3032

Middlebrooks, J. S., 8 Audage, N. C. (2008).
The effects of childhood stress on health acvoss
the lifespan. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Dis-
ease Control and Prevention, National
Center for Injury Prevention and Control.

National Sciendfic Coundl on the Developing
Child. (2003). Fxcessive sivess disrupts the ar-
chitecture of the developing brain (Working
Paper 3). Cambridge, MA: Author. Retrieved
from http://developingchild.harvard.edu/
index.php/resources/reports_and_ working
papersiworking papers/wp3/

National Scientific Council on the Developing
Child. (2012). The science of neglect: The
pevsistent absence of vesponsive cave disvupts
the developing brain (Working Paper 12).
Cambridge, MA: Author. Retrieved from

Downloaded From: htip:/fajot.acta.org/ on 08/02/2017 Terms of Use: http://AOTA.org/terms

hetp://developingchild.harvard.edu/index.
php/resources/reports_and_working_papers/
working papersfwpl2/

Neufeld, P. S, & Berg, C. (2013). Expanded
occupations for families, with pragram exam-
ples. Unpublished manuscript, Washington
University in St. Louis.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, Pub.
L. 111-148, § 3502, 124 Stat. 119, 124
(2010).

Poland, B., Krupa, G., & McCall, D. (2009).
Settings for health promotion: An analytic
framework to guide intervention design
and implementation. Health Prometion
Practice, 10, 505-516. htp://dx.dot.org/
10.1177/1524839909341025

Runyan, D. K., Hunter, W. M., Socolar, R. R,
Amaya-Jackson, L., English, D., Landsverk,
T, . .. Mathew, R. M. (1998). Children
who prosper in unfavorable environments:
The relatonship to social capital. Pediatrics,
101, 12-18. hep:i/dx.dot.org/10.1542/
peds.101.1.12

Sameroff, A. J., Seifer, R., Barocas, R., Zax,
M., . . . Greenspan, S. (1987). Intelli-
gence quotient scotes of 4-year-old chil-
dren: Social-environmental risk factors.
Pediarrics, 79, 343-350.

Shonkoff, J. P. (2012). Leveraging the biology
of adversity to address the roots of dispar-
ities in health and development. Proceed-
ings of the National Academy of Sciences of
the United States of America, 109%Suppl. 2),
17302-17307. hep:/idx.doi.org/10.1073/
pnas. 1121259109

Shonkoff, J. P, . . . Gamer, A S.; Committee on
Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family
Health; Committee on Farly Childhood,
Adoption, and Dependent Care; Section on
Developmental and Behavioral Pediat-
rics. (2012). The lifelong effects of early
childhood adversity and toxic stress. Pe-
diatrics, 129, e232-e246. htp://dx.doi.
org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663

Thibeault, R., . . . Hébert, M. (1997). A con-
gruent model for health promotion in oc-
cupational therapy. Oceupational Therapy
Taternational, 4, 271-293.

Townsend, E., . .. Wilcodk, A A (2004). Occupa-
tional justice and client-centred practice: A
dialogue in progress. Camadian Jowmal of
Ocewpational Therapy, 71, 75-87. httpfidx.
doi.org/10.1177/000841740407100203

Trentham, B., Cockburn, L., . . . Shin, J. (2007).
Health promotion and community devel-
opment: An application of occupational
therapy in primary health care. Canadian
Jowrnal of Community Mental Health, 2612),
53-70.

els3



	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_01
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_02
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_03
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_04
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_05
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_06
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_07
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_08
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_09
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_10
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_11
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_12
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_13
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_14
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_15
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_16
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_17
	17-0822 Board Dev Parcket - rev_Page_18

